RECEIVED

Jun 29 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM McCORMICK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000514
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-35-00086

Diane L. Shaffer and Daniel A. Higgins, Plaintiffs,
McCormick County Council and
McCormick County Office of Voter Registration and Elections, Respondent,
of whom Diane L. Shaffer is the Appellant.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

M. Todd Carroll
S.C. Bar No. 74000
todd.carroll@wbd-us.com
Kevin A. Hall
S.C. Bar No. 15063
kevin.hall@wbd-us.com
Levi W. Wright

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

This case concerns fundamental issues regarding the citizenry's right to self-government, as expressly preserved by South Carolina's Home Rule Framework. Pursuant to South Carolina Code §§ 4-9-1210–1230, Appellant and the requisite number of McCormick County voters presented three proposed ordinances for McCormick County Council's consideration. One ordinance involved district boundaries, one involved notice of Council meetings, and one involved the citizenry's ability to speak at Council meetings. The Council passed the third ordinance regarding speaking at public Council meetings, but it refused to pass the other two. The Council and the McCormick County Election Commission (collectively "Respondents") then refused to present those remaining ordinances to the electorate for an up-or-down vote, as required by South Carolina law.

The Appellant, Mrs. Shaffer sued to enforce her right to the ordinance-via-ballot initiative process, which is expressly memorialized in South Carolina Code §§ 4-9-1210–1230. The circuit court affirmed the Council's and Election Commission's refusal to present these proposed ordinances to the voters when it denied Appellant's motion for summary judgment and granted Respondent's cross-motion. The circuit court's order was erroneous and presents several important issues for appellate review:

1. Did the circuit court err by not enforcing the ordinance-via-ballot initiative process specifically provided for in South Carolina Code §§ 4-9-1210–1230 for each of the remaining two proposed ordinances?
2. Did the circuit court err in finding that Proposed Ordinance 23-10, which allows greater transparency before council meetings, conflict with South Carolina law?

3. Did the circuit court err in finding that Proposed Ordinance 23-11, which gives the electorate a voice in crafting voting district boundaries, conflict with South Carolina law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns a county public's right to shape their local government through the statutorily endowed initiative and referendum process, and whether a county council may refuse to submit lawfully initiated ordinances to the electorate despite the General Assembly's express command that such ordinances "shall be submitted to the electors." S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-1230.

I. Relevant Facts

A. McCormick County Redistricting and the Adoption of Map 2

On December 9, 2021, the General Assembly passed legislation adopting the results of the 2020 Census, which was signed into law the next day. 2021 S.C. Acts No. 117. McCormick County Council then undertook its redistricting process pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-90, which requires county councils to reapportion districts "within a reasonable time prior to the next scheduled general election which follows the adoption by the State of each federal decennial census."

Using the 2020 census results, the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office prepared three different potential maps to redistrict the McCormick County Council's five seats that would have followed South Carolina law concerning apportionment. (R. pp. 35–43; Proposed Maps.) On January 11, 2022, during a special meeting, the McCormick County Council unanimously approved the first reading of Ordinance 21-07, adopting a redistricting plan for county council districts. (R. pp. 44–46; Ordinance 21-07.) The motion was for the title only, and no specific adoption of any of the three maps developed by the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office was made. A public hearing on the redistricting plan was tentatively scheduled for February 7, 2022.

On February 7, 2022, the County Council held a public hearing on redistricting. All three maps and supporting statistical data were made available for public review. Six individuals made public appearances at the hearing, all supporting the adoption of Map 3, and one county resident submitted written comments also supporting Map 3.

Despite this unanimous public support for Map 3, on February 15, 2022, during the regular monthly county council meeting, the third and final reading of Ordinance 21-07, approving Map 2 as the county's redistricting plan, was adopted by a three-to-two majority. (R. pp. 44–46; Ordinance 21-07.) A motion to amend the ordinance to adopt Map 3 instead of Map 2 failed by a vote of two-to-three. Appellant and other McCormick County residents strongly disagreed with county council's decision to use Map 2 because Map 3 more appropriately apportioned the electors among the various single member districts and reduced the voter deviation between districts

B. The Initiative Petitions and Council's Refusal

Discontented with Council's selection of Map 2, Appellant and other citizens exercised their statutory right under S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-1210 to propose ordinances via initiative petition. After gathering signatures from at least fifteen percent of the qualified electors, Appellant submitted three initiative petitions to the McCormick County Office of Voter Registration and Elections in August 2023. (R. pp. 47–67; Proposed Ordinances 23-09, 23-10, and 23-11.)

Among the proposed ordinances were: (a) Proposed Ordinance 23-10, which would allow any County Council member to place items on the Council's meeting agenda and require agendas for regular Council meetings to be posted at least seven days before each meeting (R. pp. 53–54)

and (b) Proposed Ordinance 23-11, which would amend Ordinance 21-07 to substitute Map 3 for Map 2 as the County's reapportionment plan (R. pp. 57–64).

On November 21, 2023, McCormick County Council held its regular monthly meeting. During this meeting, the council approved first readings of Proposed Ordinances 23-09¹, 23-10, and 23-11. (R. pp 68–70; Nov. 21, 2023 Meeting Minutes.) However, on December 19, 2023, County Council held another monthly meeting where it voted not to approve Proposed Ordinances 23-10 and 23-11. (R. pp. 71–73; Dec. 19, 2023 Meeting Minutes.) During the December 19, 2023, meeting, McCormick County Council's legal counsel stated that the council's decision on Proposed Ordinances 23-10 and 23-11 was final. The legal counsel further advised that, in a subsequent meeting, the council should adopt motions to ensure that neither ordinance would be referred to the McCormick County Office of Voter Registration and Elections for inclusion on the ballot for the November 2024 general election. Then, on January 16, 2024, Council held a final voted where it decided three-to-two against submitting the Proposed Ordinances 23-10 and 23-11 to the electorate. (R. pp. 74–76; Jan. 16, 2024 Meeting Minutes.)

In response, Appellant submitted a letter to the McCormick County Office of Voter Registration and Elections on March 20, 2024 demanding that the proposed ordinances be placed on the ballot for the next general election, as required by South Carolina Code § 4-9-1230 (R. pp. 77–79; March 20, 2024 Letter from Appellant.) On March 26, 2024, the County election agency notified Appellant that it would not place Proposed Ordinances 23-10 or 23-11 on any ballot for the electorate's consideration.

¹ Proposed Ordinance 23-09 required an open public comment period at the beginning of the council's regular monthly meetings. This ordinance was approved by county council and is not in dispute as part of this appeal.

II. Procedural History

In recognition of the time-sensitive nature of their request with the November 2024 general election looming, Appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the Original Jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court on May 3, 2024. (R. pp. 275–288; Petition for Writ of Mandamus.) The petition sought an order requiring Respondents to place the proposed ordinances on the ballot for the November 2024 general election. By Order dated June 20, 2024, the Supreme Court denied the Petition but left some uncertainty about whether the denial was a decision on the merits or procedural decision about the Supreme Court’s original jurisdiction. (R. pp. 313–314; Order Denying Petition.) In response, Appellant filed a Petition for Clarification about the basis of the Court’s denial on June 20, 2024. (R. pp. 315–318; Petition for Rehearing and Clarification.) The Court issued a subsequent order confirming that the denial of the extraordinary writ petition was not a ruling on the merits. (R. pp. 319–320; Order Clarifying Denial.)

On September 11, 2024, Appellant filed this action in the McCormick County Court of Common Pleas seeking injunctive and declaratory relief. (R. pp. 22–34; Complaint.) On October 15, 2024, Respondents filed an Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaim, denying Appellant's claims and asserting that the proposed initiative ordinances conflict with state law. (R. pp. 91–139; Defendants' Answer.) On November 14, 2024, Appellant filed an Answer to Respondents' Counterclaim. (R. pp. 148–149; Answer to Counterclaim.) The November 2024 general election occurred without the proposed ordinances appearing on the ballot.

On September 2, 2025, Appellant moved to amend the complaint to seek a special election on the proposed ordinances—relief expressly authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-1230, which provides that council “may, in its discretion, and if no regular election is to be held within such period, provide for a special election.” (R. pp. 196–198; Motion to Amend Complaint.) The

amendment was granted, and an Amended Complaint was filed on September 17, 2025. (R. pp. 3–5; Order Granting Motion to Amend; R. pp. 80–90; Amended Complaint.) On October 2, 2025, Respondents filed their Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaim to the Amended Complaint. (R. pp. 140–147; Amended Answer and Counterclaim.) Then, on October 14, 2025, Appellant filed an Answer to Respondents' Amended Counterclaim. (R. pp. 150–151; Amended Answer to Counterclaim.)

Both parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. pp. 199–208; Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment; R. pp. 209–210; Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.) A hearing was held on the summary judgment motions on November 3, 2025. On December 11, 2025, Appellant filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority directing the Court to *Abbott v. League of United Latin American Citizens*, No. 25A608, 607 U.S. ___, 2025 WL 3484863 (U.S. Dec. 4, 2025), a US Supreme Court relevant to issues presented here. (R. pp. 239–261; Notice of Additional Authority.) Respondents filed a response to the supplemental on authority on January 5, 2026. (R. pp. 262–270.)

On January 6, 2026, the circuit court entered an order granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment, denying Appellant's motion, and declaring that “Defendants have no duty to hold a special election referendum on the proposed initiative ordinances.” (R. pp. 6–19; Order Granting Summary Judgment.)

Appellant timely filed a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration on January 15, 2026. (R. pp. 225–235; Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration.) On January 28, 2026, the circuit court entered an order denying the motion for reconsideration. (R. pp. 20–21; Order Denying Motion to Reconsider.)

Appellant timely filed her Notice of Appeal on February 27, 2027. This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal presents the fundamental question of whether county officials may refuse to submit lawfully initiated ordinances to the electorate despite the General Assembly's express command that such ordinances “*shall be* submitted to the electors.” S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-1230 (emphasis added).

Appellant Diane L. Shaffer and fellow citizens of McCormick County gathered signatures from more than fifteen percent of qualified electors to propose three ordinances to County Council—one concerning meeting agenda transparency, one concerning the citizenry’s ability to speak during Council meetings, and another proposing an alternative redistricting map for councilmembers’ districts. After Council declined to pass two of the three ordinances, they then refused to present those same ordinances to the electorate, in direct contravention of § 4-9-1230's mandatory directive.

Rather than ordering an election on the proposed ordinances, as required by South Carolina Code § 4-9-1230, the circuit court excused Respondents’ noncompliance by concluding that both unpassed ordinances conflict with state law.

The circuit court's ruling effectively nullifies the initiative and referendum rights the General Assembly expressly granted to county electorates through the Home Rule Act. If allowed to stand, the decision would permit county councils across South Carolina to unilaterally veto citizen-initiated measures simply by declining to pass them—the very outcome § 4-9-1230 was designed to prevent. This Court should reverse and remand with instructions to order Respondents to conduct a special election on Proposed Ordinances 23-10 and 23-11.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case involves statutory construction. The proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which this Court reviews *de novo* and “without any deference to the court below.” *Powell v. Keel*, 433 S.C. 457, 462, 860 S.E.2d 344, 346 (2021).

ARGUMENT

I. The ordinance-via-ballot process is mandatory and is a self-government safeguard the General Assembly specifically created for the citizenry with respect to local governments.

South Carolina law grants county electorates the power to shape their local government. As a foundational point, the voters themselves choose the form of county government they wish to govern them. *See e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-10 (allowing the county electorate to conduct a referendum “to change the form of government, number of council members, or methods of election.”).

In addition to government structure, voters are allowed to play a role in local policymaking. The General Assembly has granted voters the authority to propose and then vote on county ordinances, as long as the proposed ordinance does not appropriate money or levy taxes: “The qualified electors of any county may propose *any ordinance*, except an ordinance appropriating money or authorizing the levy of taxes and adopt or reject such ordinance at the polls.” *Id.* § 4-9-1210 (emphasis added).

After a representative portion of the county electorate—fifteen percent—proposes a lawful referendum², a county council has two options: it can enact the ordinance, or it can put the

² As a threshold matter, there is no dispute about whether Appellant complied with the procedural requirements of the initiative and referendum process. Namely, Appellant “submitted to the council by a petition signed by qualified electors of the county equal in number to at least fifteen percent of the qualified electors of the county.” S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-1210. Upon Respondents’ decision to not pass the proposed ordinances, Appellant timely petitioned for the

ordinance to a vote by the county electorate. “If the council shall fail to pass an ordinance proposed by initiative petition or shall pass it in a form substantially different from that set forth in the petition...the adoption or repeal of the ordinance concerned ***shall be submitted to the electors*** not less than thirty days nor more than one year from the date the council takes its final vote thereon.” *Id.* § 4-9-1230 (emphasis added).

The results of the vote are binding: “All county councils shall be bound by the results of any such referendum.” *Id.*

The only narrow circumstances when a council need not submit a proposed ordinance for an election is when either (1) the ordinance relates to “appropriating money or authorizing the levy of taxes” or (2) the proposed ordinance ***directly conflicts*** with State law. *Id.* § 4-9-1210; *see, e.g., I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 412, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) (rejecting a ballot initiative that would override zoning procedures that are specifically governed by “the elaborate, detailed zoning procedures contained in Title 6” of the South Carolina Code); *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Coalition of Expressway Opponents*, 307 S.C. 449, 456, 415 S.E.2d 801, 805 (1992) (concluding that a proposed ordinance that would block the collection of tolls on public roads was “facially defective in its entirety because it sets aside the structure and administration of the statewide highway scheme,” as the tolls were designed by the State Department of Highways and Public Transportation to pay for those roads).

Appellants’ proposed ordinances fit neither prohibited category for a citizen-led ordinance, and the circuit court erred in ruling otherwise.

ordinances to be placed on the next available election. She then immediately sought involvement from the Judiciary—first the Supreme Court, and then the circuit court—once the local government entities refused to follow the law.

First, the proposed ordinances here have nothing to do with the public fisc, which is the only limitation actually stated in Section 4-9-1210 itself.

Second, and as discussed further below, Proposed Referendums 23-10 and 23-11 do not conflict with any existing state law. Indeed, the circuit court did not identify any actual statutory conflict. But mere generalized policy concerns or implied limitations untethered from statutory text cannot override the citizenry's ability to govern itself; that is the very point of the Section 4-9-1210's process. And, in fact, the proposed ordinances here are "consistent with the constitution and general laws of this State." *Aakjer v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 388 S.C. 129, 133, 694 S.E.2d 213, 215 (2010).

A. The circuit court erred in holding that proposed Ordinance 23-10 conflicts with the South Carolina Code.

Proposed Ordinance 23-10 concerns the inclusion of items on the County Council's agenda for regular meetings and how far before a meeting Council must post its agenda for public notice. Specifically, the proposed ordinance would (1) allow any County Council member to place items on the Council's meeting agenda, and (2) require agendas for regular Council meetings to be posted at least seven days before each meeting.

1. Proposed Ordinance 23-10 does not affect County Council's "rules" or "orders of business" under Section 4-9-110.

South Carolina Code § 4-9-110 states that "[t]he council shall determine its own rules and order of business." Based on this single sentence alone, the circuit court found that proposed Ordinance 23-10—which would affect agenda setting *before* a council meeting—is invalid because it attempts to change the rules of McCormick County Council.

But the "rules and order of business" clause in South Carolina Code § 4-9-110 addresses internal parliamentary mechanics like opening meetings in prayer, decorum in speaking, requests

to be heard, and the order of business. *See* McCormick County, SC, Code of Ordinances ch. 2 §§ 2-58 –2-60 (2023). Proposed Ordinance 23-10 does not affect such internal “rules” in any way. Instead, meeting agenda notice and placement concern how the public is informed before the meeting and how the public record is maintained. Those are distinct functions, and one has nothing to do with the other.

While South Carolina Code § 4-9-110 gives County Councils the authority to “determine its own rules and order of business,” it does not give council all-encompassing power for pre-meeting agenda setting; agendas for public meetings of public bodies are governed by an entirely separate area of the State Code: Title 30’s Freedom of Information Act.

The proposed ordinance simply allows Council members the chance to put issues on the table for the Council’s consideration before a meeting. How those items are addressed during a meeting—that is, how Council’s enforces its “rules” and “order of business”—are not impacted at all by the proposed ordinance.

Because Proposed Ordinance 23-10 does not regulate any internal “rule” or “order of business” of McCormick County Council, it is not preempted by or even addressed by South Carolina Code § 4-9-110. By conflating agenda notice and public-access requirements with internal parliamentary governance, the circuit court improperly expanded Section 4-9-110 beyond its text and legislative purpose and, in so doing, erred by blocking the self-government process.

2. Proposed Ordinance 23-10 does not seek to change any part of FOIA.

Furthermore, South Carolina Code § 4-9-110 states that “meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the general law of the State of South Carolina affecting meetings of public bodies.” Among such “general laws of the state” is the South Carolina’s Freedom of Information Act. The South Carolina Freedom of Information Act requires public bodies to post agendas for

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