THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 28 2026**

APPEAL FROM McCORMICK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2026-000514  
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-35-00086

---

Diane L. Shaffer and Daniel A. Higgins, Plaintiffs,  
of whom Diane L. Shaffer is the

Appellant,

v.

McCormick County Council and  
McCormick County Office of Voter Registration and Elections,

Respondents.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

CALLISON DORN LAW FIRM, PA

By: s/G.P. Callison, Jr.  
SC Bar #1084  
116 County Line Road  
Bradley, SC 29819-2648  
(864) 980-1836

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

## ARGUMENTS

### 1. STATE LAW PREEMPTS LOCAL ORDINANCES.

This case involves the doctrine of state law preemption of local initiative ordinances. “To determine the validity of a local ordinance, this Court’s inquiry is twofold: (1) did the local government have the power to enact the local ordinance, and if so (2) is the ordinance consistent with the constitution and general law of this State.” *Aakjer v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 388 S.C. 129, 694 S.E.2d 213 (S.C. 2010)

Of particular importance as relates to this case is conflict preemption which focuses on the second inquiry stated in *Aakjer*: “... is the ordinance consistent with the constitution and general law of this State.”<sup>1</sup> This was discussed in the case of *Wilson ex rel. State v. City of Columbia*, 434 S.C. 206, 863 S.E.2d 456 (S.C. 2021). In *Wilson*, the South Carolina Supreme Court considered whether an ordinance adopted by the City of Columbia was preempted by a proviso enacted by the South Carolina Legislature. The City of Columbia premised its authority to adopt local ordinances on the Home Rule Act. The Supreme Court rejected this argument stating:

---

<sup>1</sup> *Aakjer* is cited by Appellant for the proposition that “the proposed ordinances here are” consistent with the constitution and general laws of this state”. *Aakjer* does not hold this. *Aakjer* involved ordinances related to motorcycle helmets and eyewear. The Court found that the local ordinances were preempted by state law.

“This brings us to the real point of contention—may the City enact ordinances in direct conflict with state law ... The answer is unsurprisingly and unequivocally "no." The Home Rule doctrine in no manner serves as a license for local governments to countermand a legislative enactment by the General Assembly, nor has this Court ever construed it in that manner. See, e.g. , *City of N. Charleston* , 306 S.C. at 156, 410 S.E.2d at 571 (noting a grant of police power to local governments is given with the caveat that the locality may not enact ordinances that conflict with state law); see also *Williams v. Town of Hilton Head Island*, 311 S.C. 417, 422, 429 S.E.2d 802, 805 (1993) (explaining Home Rule "bestow[s] upon municipalities the authority to enact regulations ... so long as such regulations are not inconsistent with the Constitution and general law of the state.”

The Court in *Wilson* then addressed conflict preemption: “The City's ordinances are in conflict with state law. Resolving a conflict between state law and a city (or county) ordinance invokes the principle of preemption. Conflict preemption occurs when the ordinance hinders the accomplishment of the statute's purpose or when the ordinance conflicts with the statute such that compliance with both is impossible.”

The preemption of local ordinances by state statutory law applies to all local ordinances – including those proposed to be adopted by initiative and referendum. “When a municipality enacts an ordinance which conflicts with state law, the ordinance is invalid. An electorate has no greater power to legislate than the municipality itself.” *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Coalition of Expressway Opponents*, 307 S.C. 449, 415 S.E.2d 801 (1992).

## 2. THE INITIATIVE AND REFERENDUM PROCESS IS NOT MANDATORY.

The initiative and referendum provisions related to counties and municipalities are essentially the same and the case law applicable to one is, by implication, applicable to the other. [compare S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-1210, et seq (counties) and S.C. Code 5-17-10, et seq (municipalities)]. The initiative and referendum provisions for both counties and municipalities provide that the qualified electors of any county or municipality may propose any ordinance, except an ordinance appropriating money or authorizing the levy of taxes and adopt or reject such ordinance at the polls. Any initiative ordinance may be submitted to the council by a petition signed by qualified electors equal in number to at least fifteen percent of the qualified electors. “If the council shall fail to pass an ordinance proposed by initiative petition or shall pass it in a form substantially different from that set forth in the petition therefor or if the council shall fail to repeal an ordinance for which a petition for repeal has been presented, the adoption or repeal of the ordinance concerned shall be submitted to the electors not less than thirty days nor more than one year from the date the council takes its final vote thereon.”

Though the initiative and referendum process are quite broad, there are limits. As stated in an Opinion of the Attorney General dated June 24, 1993: “As broad as this statutory language appears to be, there are additional, implied limitations inherent therein. For instance, such ordinance would be required to be constitutionally permissible and consistent with the general laws of the State”.<sup>2</sup> In *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Coalition of Expressway Opponents*, 307 S.C. 449, 415 S.E.2d 801 (1992) the Supreme Court considered the power of the electorate to adopt an invalid initiative ordinance: “When a municipality enacts an ordinance which conflicts with state law, the ordinance is invalid. An electorate has no greater power to legislate than the municipality

---

<sup>2</sup> Op. Att’y Gen. (S.C.A.G. June 24, 1993)

itself. An initiative ordinance which is facially defective cannot be cured by adoption by the electorate.” In the *Town of Hilton Head Island*, the Supreme Court held that if an initiative ordinance is facially defective in its entirety, there is “no obligation to place the initiative ordinance on the ballot” and there is “no right to obtain a vote to enact invalid legislation... Because the initiative ordinance is facially defective in its entirety, we find that the Town has no obligation to place the initiative ordinance on the ballot. Appellants possess no right to obtain a vote to enact invalid legislation.”

Bottom line - the initiative and referendum process cannot be used to enact local ordinances which are inconsistent with or in conflict with state statutory law. Appellant agrees.<sup>3</sup>

**3. BECAUSE THE INITIATED ORDINANCE CONCERNING ALLOWING COUNCIL MEMBERS TO PLACE ITEMS ON AGENDAS AND REQUIRING AGENDAS TO BE POSTED AT LEAST SEVEN DAYS IN ADVANCE OF COUNCIL MEETINGS IS INCONSISTENT WITH STATE LAW, THE RESPONDENTS HAVE NO DUTY OR OBLIGATION TO HOLD A REFERENDUM ON THE INITIATED ORDINANCE.**

**Proposed Initiative Ordinance 23-10 (Council Rules)** – Plaintiffs seek to require Respondents to hold a referendum on a proposed initiative ordinance that allows any county council member to place items on the council’s meeting agenda and requires agendas for regular council meetings to be posted at least seven days before each meeting. Proposed initiative Ordinance 23-10 (Council Rules) is governed by SC Code Ann. § 4-9-110:

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant argues that the initiative and referendum process is mandatory but then admits that it is not mandatory. Appellant cites *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 412, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) and *Town of Hilton Head v. Coalition of expressway Opponents*, 307 S.C. 449, 415 S.E.2d 801 (1992) as examples of cases in which the South Carolina Supreme Court has rejected initiative ordinances which conflict with existing statutory law. Appellant’s Brief p.3.

SECTION 4-9-110. Council shall select chairman and other officers; terms of office; appointment of clerk; frequency and conduct of meetings; minutes of proceedings.

The council shall select one of its members as chairman, except where the chairman is elected as a separate office, one as vice-chairman and such other officers as are deemed necessary for such terms as the council shall determine, unless otherwise provided for in the form of government adopted. The council shall appoint a clerk to record its proceedings and perform such additional duties as the council may prescribe. The council, after public notice shall meet at least once each month but may meet more frequently in accordance with a schedule prescribed by the council and made public. All meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the general law of the State of South Carolina affecting meetings of public bodies. Special meetings may be called by the chairman or a majority of the members after twenty-four hours' notice.

**The council shall determine its own rules and order of business.** It shall keep a journal in which shall be recorded the minutes of its proceedings which shall be open to public inspection. (emphasis added)

Pursuant to this statute, the “council” – not electors - has the authority to determine its own rules. The proposed initiative Ordinance 23-10 (Council Rules) attempts to change the rules of the McCormick County Council and take away the authority of County Council to “determine its own rules and order of business.”. Through the initiative and referendum process, Appellant is attempting to amend S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-110. Appellant’s proposed initiative ordinance is inconsistent with, and preempted by, state statutory law.

Regarding the posting of the agenda, the McCormick County Council follows S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-80 which requires the posting of an agenda “as early as is practicable but not later than twenty-four hours before the meeting”. The proposed initiative Ordinance 23-10 (Council Rules) attempts to substitute posting of an agenda “as early as is practicable but not later than twenty-four hours before the meeting” with posting an agenda for regular council meetings at least seven days before each meeting. Not only is this inconsistent with state law, but it attempts to change it. This proposed initiative ordinance attempts to amend S.C. Code § 30-4-80 by eliminating the language “as early as is practicable but not later than twenty-four hours before the

meeting.” Only the legislature can amend S.C. Code § 30-4-80. This state statutory law cannot be changed by initiative and referendum or judicial decision.

The trial court’s Order of January 6, 2026, should be affirmed.

**4. BECAUSE THE INITIATED ORDINANCE CONCERNING CHANGING MCCORMICK COUNTY’S REAPPORTIONMENT PLAN IS IN CONFLICT WITH AND INCONSISTENT WITH EXISTING STATUTORY LAW AND CASE PRECEDENT, THE RESPONDENTS HAVE NO DUTY OR OBLIGATION TO HOLD A REFERENDUM ON THE INITIATED ORDINANCE**

**Proposed Ordinance 23-11 (Reapportionment)** – Appellant seeks to require Respondents to hold a referendum on a proposed initiative ordinance replacing Map 2 adopted as the reapportionment plan for McCormick County based on the 2020 Census with Map 3. There is no allegation or evidence that Map 2 adopted by McCormick County Council is invalid. (R. p. \_\_\_; Appellant’s Motion for Summary Judgment p. 7) Appellant just “strongly” disagrees with the adoption of Map 2 and want to replace it with Map 3. (R. p. \_\_\_; Appellant’s Amended Complaint p. 5)

State law governs proposed initiative Ordinance 23-11 (Reapportionment) and preempts local law. S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-90 provides that “all County Council districts must be reapportioned as to population by the county council within a reasonable time prior to the next scheduled general election which follows the adoption by the State of each federal decennial census. The population variance between defined election districts shall not exceed ten percent.” This statute applies to all counties in this state and establishes a uniform system of reapportionment.

Both Map 2 (adopted) and Map 3 (proposed initiative change) meet the population variance requirements. However, the proposed initiative ordinance substituting Map 3 for Map 2 does not – and cannot – comply with the timetable for the adoption of a reapportionment ordinance.

S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-90 vests the authority to reapportion council districts in “the county council”. The McCormick County Council followed the specific requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-90 in adopting its reapportionment plan.

1. The United States Census for 2020 was adopted by the General Assembly by 2021 S.C. Acts No. 117 effective December 10, 2021 (See SC Code Ann. §1-1-715).
2. The reapportionment plan for McCormick County had to be adopted based on the 2020 Census within a reasonable time after December 10, 2021.
3. The McCormick County Council adopted Map 2 as the reapportionment plan on February 15, 2022, which is within a reasonable time after December 10, 2021.
4. The plan must be adopted prior to the “next scheduled general election” following the adoption of the Census.
5. McCormick County’s plan was adopted prior to the 2022 general election - which was the “next scheduled general election”.
6. The population variance of the plan (Map 2) adopted by the McCormick County Council does not exceed 10%.

The reapportionment plan (Map 2) adopted by the McCormick County Council is a valid reapportionment plan. The council district lines were redrawn based on the adopted plan and the 2022 – 2024 elections, and all procedures leading up to the 2022 and 2024 elections (and now the 2026 elections), were based on the adopted reapportionment plan and revised district lines.

The proposed initiative Ordinance 23-11 (Reapportionment) conflicts with, is inconsistent with, and is preempted by state statutory law. When a local ordinance is in direct conflict with state law, the local ordinance is void. *Wilson v. City of Columbia*, supra. This is a facially invalid ordinance and

the Respondents have no duty to hold a referendum on this initiative ordinance. *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Coalition of Expressway Opponents*, supra.

**Case Precedent** – In addition to being inconsistent with statutory law, the proposed initiative Ordinance 23-11 (Reapportionment) is contrary to binding case law precedent established by the South Carolina Supreme Court. In *Elliott v. Richland County*, 322 S.C. 423, 472 S.E.2d 256 (1996), the Supreme Court considered whether Richland County could adopt a new reapportionment plan almost two years after having adopted a valid plan. The facts in *Elliott* concerning reapportionment are similar to this case. In *Elliott*, Richland County adopted Plan 1 as its reapportionment plan in January 1992. It then discovered an error in the plan and in June 1992 adopted Plan 2, amending Plan 1. Both Plan 1 and Plan 2 were adopted before the November 1992 general election. Then, on February 9, 1994 (approximately 20 months later), Richland County Council passed another reapportionment ordinance (Plan 3).

Here is the South Carolina Supreme Court’s analysis:

“DISCUSSION

S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-90 (1986 & Supp.1994) provides that:

All districts must be reapportioned as to population by the county council within a reasonable time prior to the next scheduled general election which follows the adoption by the State of each federal decennial census.

**Appellant argues that under § 4-9-90, once a county council has enacted a valid reapportionment ordinance, it may not subsequently enact another such ordinance until after the next regular apportionment period prescribed by § 4-9-90. We agree.”** (emphasis added)

The Supreme Court confirmed this in *Elliott 2* stating: “In *Elliott I* this Court stated that Plan 3 was enacted in violation of state law because there was a valid reapportionment ordinance already in place, i.e., Plan 2. *Elliott v. Richland County*, 327 S.C. 175, 489 S.E.2d 195 (S.C. 1997).

This language is very direct. A county council has one shot to reapportion council districts. Once a valid plan has been adopted, it cannot be changed until the next decennial census.

Appellant concedes that "... *Elliott* may prevent McCormick County Council itself from reapportioning its single-member districts more than once every ten years."<sup>4</sup> See also, Appellants Brief pp. 10-11. Respondents agree that having previously adopted a valid reapportionment plan, McCormick County Council cannot adopt another plan until after the 2030 census. This is what *Elliott* held. And, as stated by the Supreme Court in *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Coalition of Expressway Opponents*, supra, "**An electorate has no greater power to legislate than the municipality itself.**" (emphasis added) Since McCormick County Council cannot adopt a new reapportionment plan until after the 2030 census – which Appellants concede - the electorate through the initiative and referendum process cannot do so.

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